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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
i Plaintiff,
v,

| STEVEN RIGLER,

Defendant.

The U.S. Attorney charges:

At all times relevant:
1.
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SODTHERNLDISTRICY OF CALIFORNIA
B . DEPUTY|

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

Case No. 1S ULQ-'TTS"BHS{

INFORMATION

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349 |
Conspiracy to Commit Honest Services
Mail Fraud

INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS

Defendant STEVEN RIGLER (heremafter referred to as “RIGLER”) was a

chiropractor licensed to practice in the state of California, who operated three clinics|

specializing in chiropractic medicine,
2.

treadment and prevention of mechanical

\

-

Chiropractic is a form of alternative medicine that emphasizes diagnosis,

disorders of the musculoskeletal system, |

especially the spine, under the belief that these disorders affect general health via the

inervous system, Tt is a healthcare profession, and although chiropractors have many |
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similarities to- primary care providers, they are more similar to a medical specialty like

dentistry or podiatry.

3, The main chiropractic treatment techniques involve manual therapy,

Il especially manipulation of the spine, other joints, and soft tissues; treatment may also

{include exercises and health and lifestyle counseling.

4. Doctors of chiropractic medicine owe a duty of honest services to theiri‘
patients for decisions made relating to the care of those patients, including the infbmned
choice as to whether to undel‘go diagnostic testing and obtain durable medical equipment |
and, if so, an infotmed choice as to the providers of such equipment and testmg

5. Doctors of chiropractic medicine have a legal duty to act solely in their
patient’s best interssts. As such, they are fiduciaries. Fiduciaries may not profit from
their relationship with their patient unless they have the patiént‘s express informed
consent. They also have a duty to avoid any conflicts of interest betweeil themselves and
their patents, |

6.  Providence Scheduhng operated in the Southern Distxict of California as a
scheduling service that referred patients to speclf' ¢ chiropractors for care; C, A. and FIL
directed the activities of Providence Scheduling.

7. 8.0. was an attomey licensed to practice law in the state of California

1specializing in workers’ compensation.

8.  Meridian Medical Resources, Inc. was a supplier of durable medical 3

lequipment operating in the Southern District of California; F.l. directed the activities of
] . _

i Providence Scheduling.

9.  MedEx Solutions, Inc. was a scheduling service for ancillary services,;
including diagnostic imaging; C.A. and F.I. directed the activities of Providence
Scheduling.

10.  Vital Imaging was a medical diagnosiic company operating in the Southern
District of California. '

/!
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Countl
(Conspiracy - 18 U.S.C. Section 1349) ,

11, The Introductory Allegations contained in pamgraphs 1 through 9 of this
Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated as if' set forth fully herein.
F 12. Beginning no later than August 2013, and continuing through in or abo{;t
i September 2014, within the Southern Diswict of California, and elsewhere, defendant
STEVEN RIGLER knowingly and willfully conspired to commit Honest Services Mail
Fraud, that is, lmowiﬁgly and with the intent to defraud, devising and participating in a
scheme to defraud and to deprive patients of the intangible right to RIGLER’s honest
éervices by accepting and concealing bribes and kickbacks, in violation of Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 1341 and 1346.

MANNER AND MEANS

f 13.  In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to accomplish its objects, the defendant |

v
—r—

utilized the following manners and means, among others;

14. RIGLER, C.A., F.I. and others agreed to and did solicit patients for referral to
workers’ compensations.attorneys, including S.0., operating in the Southern District of
California, | "

ﬁ 15.  As part of the agreement, the attorneys were referred patients to sign up as

|

clients in exchange for directing the patients to Providence Scheduling, which would then

refer the patients to specific Echiropractors for care. ‘ |
16. RIGLER agreed with C.A., F.I. and others to receive patients referred by
Providence Scheduling each month in exchange for kickbacks and bribes, which would be
concealed from RIGLER’s patients. _
‘ 17.  The kickbacks included an agreement between RIGLER, C.A. and F.L to
direct each patient referred by Providence Scheduling for a specified amount of durable
medical equipment from Meridian Medical Résources, Inc. or diagnostic testing from

Vital Imaging. RIGLER was required to schedule any diagnostic i 1magmg from Vital

f Imaging through MedEx Solutions, Inc.

I : 3
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18. This agreement entered into by RIGLER, C.A., F.I. and others was made |
'_prior to any examination and without regard to the medical necessity of such medical%
Jequipment and setvices. ’_
19. It was agreed to by RIGLER, C.A,, F.I. and others that RIGLER would

| conceal from the patieni their agreement that RIGLER would direct his patients to obtain |
a specific amount of durable medical equiprent and diagnostic testing from Meridian
Medlcal Resources, Inc. and Vital Imaging. '

20, Tt was agreed that RIGLER would also pay a monthly fee of approx:mabely
$3,000 to C.A. and F. L, in exchange for the referral of at least 40 patients per month to
RIGLER’s chnropractic clinics. , ‘

21.  The referral agreement with C.A., F.I and others, resulted in the procuring of
'hundreds of thousands of dollars in medical equipment and services from Meridian
 Medical Resources, Inc. and Vital Imaging, which were obtained on the patients’ behalf |
and without their informed consent. ,

22, Meridian Medical Resourceé, Inc. and Vital Imaging submitted bills reéulting
from this scheme to various healthcare benefits programs, including Travelers Insurance,
Zenith Insurance Company and others, by placing such bills in an authorized .deposftory
for the mail, to be sent and delivered by the Postal Service. '

f 23. The existence of this concealed agreement regarding bribes and kickback
| payments was rnatenal to the patients’ informed consent whether to continue with their
care under RIGLER.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.

~patep:_u3laus " LAURAE. DUFFY
' (L . United States Attomey

e
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1 i| LAURAR E. DUFFY A

United States Attorney | - F:IL-EE[)
VALERIE H. CHU ‘.
Assistant United States Attorney - NOV 68 2015

2
3 j|California Bar No. 241709

| FRED SHEPPARD CLERK, .5, DISTRICT COURT

4 {Assistant United States Attorney  SOURHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
|California Bar No. 250781 @!W REPUTY
5 || Federal Office Building '
- {|880 Front Street, Room 6293
¢{|San Diego, California 92101-8893
Telephone: {(619%) 546-6750 / 8237
7 ]-Email: Valerie.chulflusdody.gov
Fred.sheppard@usdei.gov
8 ' )
thtorneys for United States of Bmerica
9 .
10 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
11 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA '
17 [{UNITED STATES OF RMERICA, | case No. 15 AL 2773~ BAS
13 Plaintiff, ~ :
14 V. 4 | PLEA AGREEMENT
15 STEVEN RIGILER,
16 I Pefendant.
1 .
17 IT IS HEREBY AGREED between: the plaintiff, UNITED STATES OF

18 | AMERICA, through its counsel, Laura E. Duffy, United States Attorney,
I
19[ and Valerie H. Chu and Fred Sheppard, Assistant United States

20 {iAttorneys, and. defendant STEVEN RIGLER, with the advice and consent

21 jjof Michael D. Stein, counsel for defendant, as follows:

"22’ , L X
23 . . . TEE PLEA
24 Defendant agrees to waive Indictment and plead guilty to an

26 llInformation charging Conspiracy to Commit Honest Services Mail Fraud,
26 |lin violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349. 1In addition, defendant agrees that
27 .the. provisions of the attached forfeiture addendum shall govern

28 || forfeiture in this case.

Plea Agreemant _ Def. Initials 5‘5 ;_
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II-

NATURE OF THE OFFENSE

A. ELEMENTS EXPLATNED

Defendant understands that the offense to which defendant is
pleading guilty has the following eleﬁents:
1. There was an agreement betwsen two or more persons to
commit Honest Services Mail Fraud:

2. The defendant entered into the agreement knowing of at

least one of its objects and intending to help

accomplish it.

To obtain forfeiture of assets, the government would have to
|show that the assets constitute, or were derived from, proceeds
traceable to his participation in the conspiracy td commit mail
fraud.

The elements of Honest Services Mail Fraud are as follows:

1, The defendant devised or knowingly participated in a
scheme to deprive a Victim of his or her right to the
defendant’s honest services;

2. The scheme consisted of concealiﬁg a kickback that the
defendant received in exchange for his services;

3. The defendant, as a healthcare professional, owed a
fiduciary duty to the victim;

4. The defendant acted with the intent to defraud by
depriving the victim of his or her right to thé
defendant's honest services;

5. The defendant’s act was material; that is, it had a
natural tendency to influence, or was capable of

influencing, a person's acts; and

Plea Agreement _ 2 Def. Initials -5;zi
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6. The defendant used, or caused scmeone to us#, the
mails to carry out or to attempt to carry out the
scheme or plan.

B. ELEMENTS UNDERSTOOD AND ADMITTED — FACTUAL BASIS

- Defendant has fully dilscussed the facts of this case with
defense counsel. - Defendant has committed each of the elements of the
crime, and admits that there is a factual basis for this guilty plea.
The following facts are true and undisputed:
| 1. From at least nAugust 2013, through September 2014,'

Defendant was a chiropractor, licensed to practice in
the Southern District of California.  Among other
things, Defendant operated three clinics specializing
in chiropraétic medicine. As a licensed bhiropractor,
a medical professional, Defendant owed a fiduciary
duty to his patients.

" 2. During this time period, Defendant agreed to have
patients referred to his chiropractic clinics by
Carlos Arguello, Fermin Iglesias and others through
various frontwcompanieé.

3. In exchange for thé. referral of patients to
Defendant’s cﬁiropractic rclinics, Defendant agreed

“ that he and his staff would direct each patient to

obtain 5600 worth of durable medical equipmént {“5ME")

and/or undergo magnetic resonance imaging (“MRI”) or

' other diagnostic testing. v

4. As further part of the scheme, Defendant referred

patients to specific DME, MRI or other diagnostic

Plea Agroement 3 Def. Initials 5;( i
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testing providers as directed by Carlos Arguello,
Fermin Iglesias and others.

5. ‘Patients referred to Defendant’s chifopractic practice
as part of this.scheme were not advised prior to being
examined that Defendant had agreed to recommend that;

each of them receive at least $600 worth of DME, MRI

or other diagnestic testing. ., Defendant agrees that
the concealment of thig information was material to a
patient’s determination as to whether to continue in

~ his oriher care with Defendant or to seek treatment
from another chiropractor or other health care
provider.

6. Az a further part of the schéme, Defendant. caused DME,
MRI and similar diagnostic testing providers te submit
claimg, inter alia, via the mail, for payment of the
costs from health care benefits programs;

7. From at least August 2013, through September 2014, as
part of Lthis scheme, Defendant wasrsent, on average,

“ more than 40 patients per month.

*¥** Without any condition or reservation whatsoever, Defendant agrees
that these facts are true and correct and may be utilized at any
trial (including the Government’s case-in-chief), hearing or
rroceeding against Defendant or any other individual, *t#

F— tfegs

Bignatwye ang Date
Defandgnt Steven Riglexr

'}//
1

" X
Plea Agreement ‘ Def. Initials
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III
PENALTIES

Defendant understands that the c¢rime to which defendant is

pleading guilty carries the following penalties:

1/
/1
7
/1

A. a maximum 20 years in prison;

B. a maximum $250;000 fine:

C. a mandatoxy special assessmenf of 8100 per count; and

D. a term of supervised release of 3 years. Defendant -

underatands that failure to comply with " any of the

conditions of supervised release may result in revocation

of supervised release, requiring defendant to serve in

prison, upon any such revocation, all or part of the
statutory meximum term of supervised release for the

offense that resulted in such term of supervised release.

E. an order from the Court pursuant to 18 U.S8.C. § 3663A that

defendént make mandatecry restitution to the wvictim(s) of
the offense of conviction, or the estate(s) of the
victims(s). Deféndant understands that the Court shall
alsc order, if agreed to by the parties in this plea
agreement, restitution to persons other than the victim(s)
of the offense of conviction.

F. an order of forfeiture of any property, real or personal,
whiéh constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to

the offense.

Plea Agreement 5 Def. Initials ;
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Iv

DEFENDANT 'S WAIVER OF TRIAL RIGHTS

Defendant understands that this guilty plea waives the right to:
A. Continue to plead not guilty and regquire the Government to
prove the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt;

B. A speedy and public trial by jury;

C.  The assistance of counsel at all stages of trial;
D. Confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses;
E. Testify and present evidence and to have witnesses testify

on behalf of defendant; and,

F. Not testify or have any adverse inferences drawn from the

failure to testify.

Defendant knowingly and wvoluntarily walves any rights and
defenses Defendant may have under the Excessive Fines Clause of the
Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution to the forfeiture
of property in this pfpceeding or any related civil proceeding.

v

DEFENDANT ACENOWLEDGES NO PRETRIAL RIGHT TO BE
PROVIDED WITH IMPEACHMENT AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE INFORMATION

The Government represents that any information establishinglthe

jfactual innocence of defendant known to the undersigned prosecutor in

this case has been turned over to defendant. The Government will
continue to provide such information establishing the factual
innocence of defendant.

Defendant understands that if this case proceeded to trial, the
Government would be required to ' provide impeachment. information
relating  to any informants or other witnesses. In addition, if

defendant raised an affirmative defense, the Government would be

Plea Agreement 6 Def. Initials é;ki
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required to provide information in its possession that supports such

a defense.

defendant -

defendant

defendant

Defendant acknowledges, however, that by pleading guilty
'will not be provided this information, if any, and
also waives the right to thié information., Finally,

‘agrees not to atteﬁpt to withdraw the guilty plea or to

file a collateral attack based on the existence of this information.

vI

DEFENDANT 'S REPRESENTATION THAT GUILTY
PLEA IS RNCWING AND VOLUNTARY

Defendant represents that:

A.

Defenndant has had a full opportunity to discuss all the
facts and circumstances of this case with defense counsel
and has a clear understanding of the charges.- and  the’
consequences of this plea. Defendant understands that, by
pleading gquilty, defendant may be giving up, and. rendered
ineligible to receive, valuable government benefits and
civie rights, such as the right to wvote, the right to
possess a firearm, the right to hold office, and the right
to serve on a jury. Defendant further understands that the.
conviction in this case may subject defendant to various
collateral consecquences, including but not limited to
deportation, removal or other adverse ' immigration
consequences; revocation of probation, parole, or
supervised release in another case; - debarment from |
government contracting; and suspension or revocation of a |
professional license, as well as civil and administrative
liability, none of which will serve as grounds to  withdraw
defendant’s guilty plea.

No one has made any promises or offered any rewards in
return for this guilty plea, other than those contained in
this agreement or otherwise disclosed to the Court.

No one has threatened defendant or defendant's family to
induce this guilty plea.

Defendant is pleading gquilty because in truth and in fact
defendant iz guilty and for no other reason.

Plea Agreemant 7 Def. Initials 2 2
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VII

AGﬁEEMENT LIMITED TO U.S5. ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
SQUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

This plea agreement is limited to the United States Attorney's
Office for the Southern District of California, and cannot bind any
other federal, state or local prosecuting, administrative, or
regﬁlatory authorities, although the Government will bring this plea
agreement to the attention of.other authorities if requested by the
defendant.

VIII

APPLICABILITY OF SENTENCING GUIDELINES

Defendant understands the sentence imposed will be based on the

factors set forth in 18 U.S8.C. § 3553(a). Defendant understands
further that in imposing the sentence, the sentencing judge must
consult the United States Sentencing Guidelines (Guidelines) and take

them into account. Defendant has discussed the Guidelines with

defense counsel and understands that the Guidelines are only

advisoryﬁ not mandatory, and the Court may impose a sentence more

severe or less severe than otherwise applicable under the Guidelines,

ilup to the maximum in the statute of conviction. Defendant

understands further that the sentence cannot be determined until a
pre&enteﬂce repcrt has been prepared by the U.S. Probation Office and

both defense counsel and the Government have had an opporfunity to

review and challenge the presentence report. Nothing in this plea

agreement shall be construed as limiting the Government's duty to
provide complete and accurate facts to the district court and the

U.8. Probation Office.

Plea Agreement : 8 ‘ Def. Initials 5 (m_
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IX

SENTENCE IS WITHIN SOLE DISCRETION OF JUDGE

This plea agreement is made pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 11 (c) (1} (B). Defendant understands that the sentence is
within the sole discretion of the sentencing judge. The Government
has not made and will not make any representation as to what sentence
defendant will receive. Defendant understands that the sentenbing
judge may impose the maximum sentence provided by statute, and is
also aware that any estimate of the probable sentence by defense
counsel is a prediction, not a promise, and is not binding on the:
Court. Likewise, the recommendation made by the Government ié not
binding on the Cburt, and it is uncertain at this time what
defendant's sentence will be. Defendant alsc has been advised and
understands that if the sentencing judge does not follow any of the
parties' sentencing recommendations, defendant nevertheless has no
right to withdraw the plea.

b4

PARTTES' SENTENCING -RECOMMENDATIONS

A. SENTENCING GUIDELINE CALCULATIONS

Although the parties understand that the Guidelines are ‘only
advisory and just one of the factors the Court will consider under 18
U.5.C. § 3533(a} in imposing a sentence, the parties will jointly

recommend the following Base Offense Level, Specific Qffense

[Characteristics, Adjustments and Departures:

1. RBase Offense Level [§ 2R1.1] 7

2. Loss or Gain between $200,000 and 3400,000 +12
(§ 2BL.1(b) (1} (G)]

3. More than 250 victims [§ 2BL.1(b) {(2)(R)] +6

4. Acceptance of Responsibility [§ 3E1.1] -3

Plea Agreemenl 2 ' Def. Initials ﬁa%i
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B. ACCEPTANCE OF RESPONSIBILITY

Notwithstanding paragraph A.7 above, the Government will not be
obligated to recommend any adjustment for Acceptance of
Responsibility if defendant engages in conduct inconsisfent with
acceptance of responsibility including, but not limited to, the
following: -

1. Fails to truthfully admit a complete factual basis as
stated in the plea at the time the plea is entered} or
falsely denies, or makes a statement inconsistent
with, the factual basis set forth in this agreement;

2. Falsely denies prior criminal conduct or convictions;

3. Is untruthful with the Government, the Court or
probaﬁion officer;

4. Méterially breaches this plea agreement in any way: or

5. Contests or assiéts any third party in contestiﬁg the
forfeiture of property(ies) seized in connection with
this case, and any property({ies) to which th@
defendant has agreed to forfeit as set forth in the

‘attached forfeiture addendum.

C. FURTHER ADJUSTMENTS AND SENTENCE REDUCTIONS INCLUDING
THOSE UNDER 18 U.S5.C. § 3553

The parties agree that defendant may request or recommend |
additional downward adjustments, departures, including criminal
history departures under USSG § 4Al1.3, or sentence reductions under
18 U.3.C. & 3553. The Government will oppése any such downward |

adjustments, departures and sentence reductions not set forth in

|Section ¥, paragraph A above.

Plea Agreement 10 Def. Initials jié?{x;
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D. NO AGREEMENT AS TO CRIMINAL HISTORY CATEGORY

The parties have ne agreement as to defendant's Criminal'History

Category.

E. "FACTUAL BASIS” AND “RELEVANT CONDUCT" INFORMATION

The parties agree that the facts in the "factual basig"

paragraph of this agreement are true, and may be considered as

"relevant conduct” under USSG § 1B1.3 and as the ~nature and

circumstances of the offense under 18 U.S8.C. § 3553(a) (1).

F. PARTIES’ RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING CUSTODY

The parties agree that the Government will recommend that
defendant be sentenced at the low end of the advisory guideline range
as calculated by the Government pursuant te this agreement.

G.  SPECIAL ASSESSMENT/FINE/RESTITUTION/FORFEITURE

1. Special Assessment.

The parties will jointly recommend that defendant pay a speéial
assessment in the amguﬁt of $100.00 to be paid forthwith at time of
sentencing. The special assessment shall be paid through the office
of the Clerk of the District Court by bank or cashier’s check or
moneyl order made payable to the “Clerk, United 8tates District
Court.” ' : :

2. ' Fine.

In light of the forfeiture order, the parties do not request a

fine.. -

3. Restitution.

The parties do not recommend imposition of a restitution order

in 1light of the difficulty of determining the 1loss caused by

Defendant’s conduct to the victims. 18 USC § 3553A (c) (3) (B).

Plea Agreement | 1 Def. Initials C;%f
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_ q. Forfeiture. Defendant agrees that the provisions of.
it
the attached forfeiture addendum shall govern forfeiture in this

case.

H. SUPERVISED RELEASE

If the Court imposes a term of supervised release, defendant
agrees that he will not later seek to reduce or terminate eérly the
term of supervised reléase until he has sérved at least 2/3 of his
term of supervised release and has fully paid and satisfied any
ilspecial assessments, fing, : crimin;l. forfeiture Jjudgment and
restitution judgment.

XI

DEFENDANT WAIVES APPEAL AND COLLATERAL ATTACK

A. WAIVER OF RIGHT TO APPEAL CONVICTION

it In exchange  for the United States’ concessions in this plea
fagreement, Defendant waives, to the full extent of the law, any right
jto appeal the conviction(s).

B. WAIVER OF RIGHT TC APPEAL SENTENCE

! In addition, Defendant waives, to the full extent of the law,
iany right to appeal the sentence, unless the Court imposes a

custodial sentence above the high end of the guideline range as

.calculated in paragraphs X.A and X.B above, without consideration of
any other adjustments or departures. If the custcedial sentence is
greater than the high end of that range, Defendant may appeal the
sentence only, but the United States will be free to support oﬁ

appeal the sentence actually imposed.

Plea Agreement L2 Def. Initials CE;R? :
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C. WAIVER OF RIGHT TQ COLLATERAL ATfACK
Defendant waives, to the full.extent of the law, any right to
’coilaterally attack the conviction and/or sentence, except for a
post-conviction collateral attack based on a claim of ineffective
assistance of counsel. -

D. OBJECTIONS TO UNITED STATES’ RECOMMENDATION

If Defendant belleves the United States” recommendation is not
in accord with this plea agreement, Defendant will object at the time
of sentencing; otherwise the objection will be deemed waived.

} | XIT
§RBACH OF THE PLEA AGREEMENT
i A. MATERIAL BREACH OF PLEA AGREEMENT

Defendant acknowledges, understands, and agrees that if |
Defendant violates or fails to perform any of Defendant's obligations
under this agreement, such violation or failure to perform will
constitute a material breach of this agreement,

Defendant acknowledges, understands, and agrees further that the
following non-exhaustive list of conduct by ‘Defendant ungquestionably
constitutes a material breach of this plea agreement:

J. | Failing to plead guilty pursuant to this agreement;

) 2. Withdrawing -the guilty plea or attempting to withdraw
T the guilty plea; _

3. Falllng to fully accept responsibility as establlshed

in Section X, paragraph B, above;

'l 4. Failing to appear in court:;

‘ 5. Failing to abide by any lawful court order related to
this case;

G. Appealing or collaterally attacking the sentence or ;
conviction in wviolation of Section XI of this plea
agreement; or 7 |

Plea Agresement : 13 - Def. Initials zg :
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7. FEngaging in additional criminal conduct from the time
of arrest until the time of sentencing.

B. CONSEQUENCES OF BREACH

In the event of Defendant's material breach of this plea
agreement, ‘Defendant will not be able to enforce any of its
provisions, and the United States will be relieved of all its
Iobligations under this plea agreement. For example, = the
United States may pursue any charges including those that were
dismissed, promised to be dismissed, or not filed as a result of this
agreement (Defendant agrees that any statute of 1imi£ations relating
to such charges is tolled as of the date of this agreement; Defeﬁdant.
also waives any .double jeobardy defense to such charges). In
addition, the United States may move to set aside Defendant's guilty
plea. Defendant may mnot withdraw the guilty plea based on the
United States’ pursuit of remedies for Defendant's breach.

XIII
COMPLETE WAIVER OF PLEA-DISCUSSION EXC#USION RIGHTS
In exchange for the United States’ «concessions in = this

agreement, Defendant . agrees that: (i) the stipulated factual basis

|statement in this agreement; (ii) any statements made by Defendant,
20 |

under oath, at the guilty plea hearing (before either a Magistrate

jJudge or a District Judge); and (iii) any evidence derived from sich

statements, are admissible against Defendant in the prosecution’s
case-in~chief and at any other stage of the proceedings in. any
prosecution of or action against Defendant on the current charges
and/or any other charges that the United States may pursue against

Defendant. Additionally, Defendant knowingly, wvoluntarily, and |

intelligently waives any arqument under the United States

Plea Agreement - ' 4 Def. Initials 5;2
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Nthese statements or any evidence derived from these statements should
aforementioned rights is effective as soon as the parties sign this
Defendant’s guilty ples.

XxIv

SUBSTANTIAT, ASSISTANCE

prosecution of others, there is no guarantee that this future

cooperation, if any, will be deemed “substantial,” or whether it will
merit a downward departure from the Sentencing Guidelines.

B. If requested by the United'States, Defendant agrees to be
involved presently or in the past in the charged criminal offense{s),
all documents and other evidence in Defendant’s possession or control
related to these violations.

C. Defendant agrees not to do any undercover work or tape

record any conversations or gather evidence unless instructed by the

criminal activity undertaken without instructions.

Lperjury and to testify before any federal or state grand jury, and at
I

Cbnstitution, any statute, Federal Rule of Evidence 410, Federal Rule

of Criminal Procedure 11{(f), and/or any other federal rule, that
be suppressed or are inadmissible. Defendant’s waiver of - the

agreement, and is not contingent upon the Court ultimately. accepting

A. If Defendant attempts.to assist in the investigation and

interviewed again by federal and state law enforcement agents and

attorneys and to tell everything Defendant knows about every person .

as well as other violations of law, Defendant also agrees to produce

agent assigned to Defendant. Defendant can be prosecuted for any
‘D. Defendant agrees to provide statements under penalty of

lany pretrial, trial, or post-trial proceedings. Defendant will

[ Plea Agreement 13 Def. Initials 2!:
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{in USSG § 1IBl.B8. If Defendant does not fully éomply with this pleé '
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provide complete, truthful, and accurate informatien and testimony.
Defendant agrees to submit to a polygraph examination to test= the .
truthfulness of Defendant’s statements, wupen request by the
United States.

E. -RAs discussed in section XIII above, the factual admissions
in this plea agreemenf and any statements made by Defendant at ény
guilty plea hearing {as well as any evidence derived from them) are
admissible against Defendant in this anq all future proceedings.
However, the Uhited States agrees that, if Defendant fully complies

with this plea agreement, it will not make use of any of Defendant’s

statements to law enforcement in the course of cooperation and during

the period of post-plea cooperation in any further prosecution of

Defendant for any offense, or in Defendant’s sentencing as provided

agreement, all statements made by Defendant before, during, and aftér
this plea vagreement,. and any leads or evidence derived from such
statements, cén be used agéinst Defendant and are admissible in
court. |

F. Statements made by Defendant ~pursuant to this plea
agreement aie not statements “made in the course of any proceedinds
under Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of.Criminal Procedure” and are not
statements “made in the course of plea discussions.”

G. If the United States Attorney;s Qffice decides that
Defendant has provided additional substantial assistance after the
date of .this agreement, and has fully complied with this ‘plea

agreement, it will file a motion for a downward departure under .

18 U.S8.C. § 3553 and/or USSG § 5K1.1. Defendant understands that the
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starting point for any substantial assistance departure will be the
ﬂgreater of the applicable mandatory minimum or +the pré—departure
Guidelines range. Defendant acknowledges that even if the
United States makes a motion, the Court may reject the United States’
motion. and recommendation - for departure and refuse to depart}
downward, and Defendant would not be allowed to withdraw Defendant’s

guilty plea. )

H. | If the United States Attorney'é Office decides to make a
substantial assistance metion, it will inform the sentencing judge
lof: (1) this plea agreemeht; (2) the nature and extent of Defendant’s
assistance; and (3) all information‘ in thé possession of the
United States relevant to sentencing.

I. If Defendant provides materially false, incomplete, or
misleading testimony or information, or breaches this plea agreement |

in any other way, the United States may prosecute Defendant in

connection with all federal criminal violations of which it is aware,
as set forth in Section XII above, includiné a prosecution for false
statements, perjury, and/or obstruction of justice. The United States
may also pursue any other remedy for breach of the plea agreement, as.
set forth in Section XII above. Any prosecution or sentence resulfing
from a breach of this plea agreement may be based on information ;
provided by Defendant.

n xv
ENTIRE AGREEMENT

“ This plea agreement embodies the entire agreement between the |

parties and supersedes any other agreement, written or oral,

?lea Agreement 17 Def. Initials z?<i
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Xvl1
MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT MUST BE IN WRITING

No modification of this plea agreement shall be effective unless

in writing signed by all parties.

XVII
DEFENDANT AND COUNSEL FULLY UNDERSTAND AGREEMENT

By signing this agreement, defendant certifies that Defendant
has'read it. Defendant has discussed the terms of this agreement
with defense counsel and fully understands ité meaning and effect.

| XVITT

DEFENDANT SATISFIED WITH COUNSEL

Defendant haé consulted with counsel and is satisfied with
counsel's representation. This is defendant’s independent opinion,

J;,and his counsel did not advise him about what te say in this regard.

LAURA E. DUFFY
United States Attorney

vifis e

pDAaTED  f VALERIE H. CHU

2-28-2015

DATED

i EZT_ZZfr‘“/f;

DATED
i

IN ADDITION TO THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS TO WHICH I AGREE, I SWRAR
UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY THAT THE FACTS IN THE "FACTUAL BASIS"

g g LZ-
Eugaiﬁngﬂf

paTp ¢ ST
! _ Dafendant

Flea Agrocemenl 18 Def. Initials g S
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FILED

FORFEITURE ADDENDUM TO PLEA AGREE

United States v. STEVEN RIGLE kgjm

oo LEal Rre T GOURT
QGIJT‘HVJ"N DIsTRICT
’

0OF ALIFGRNIA
° DEPUT

o
TR
f "

Criminal Case No. !5_ E!B oy

Defendant understands and agrees that this forfeiture addendum

to the plea agreement will be filed with the Court at the same time

e Y N T

as the filing of the main plea agreement. At the time of the Rule

711 plea-colloquy the Court will have before it the main plea
8 llagreement and one or more addenda,l and any reference during the
9 |hearing té the '“plea agreement” will be understood to be a
10 jf reference to the main plea agreement together with these addenda.
11 iBoth parties will insure that the Court is aware of and is
1_2 qbnsidering both the plea agreement anc{ these addenda at the Rule
13411 hearing. | If this issue is not raised by either party at the
14}jRule 11 hearing, any objection relating to that issue will bhe.
15 || considered waived. |

16 I, the.defendant, certify that I have read the preceding
17 iparagraph (or i1t has been read to me in my native lan.guage}, and
18 | that I have discussed it with my counsel and fully understand its

19 Imeaning and effect. I am satisfied with counsel's representation.

20

s A
22 [Ipate f - STEVEN RIGHER

23

Befendant

24‘_Acknowledgment by Defense Counsel:

25

2% 2 - 1“ V(6 ¢ : ALt
| pate MICHAEL D. STELN

27 ’ PDefense Counsel

28 ” //
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A. Property Subject to Forfeiture. 1In addition to waiving
Il Indictment and pleading quilty to an Informafion, as set forth in
Sect@on I of the main égreement, defendant agrees to forfeit the
following assets (hereinafter “Subject Assets”), which consist of

proceeds of a conspiracy to commit offenses, and substitute assets:

derived from procaeds traceable to Defendant’s

o ~1 N h o W N e

! participation in the conspiracy to commit honest services

o

mail fraud.

10 B. Bases of Forfeiture. Defendant acknowledges that all
11 | property covered by this agreement is subject to forfeiture as
12 }lproceeds pursuant to 18 U.S.C, § 981(a)f{l)(C) and 28 U.,S.C.
131} 2461(c), and as substitute assets for property otherwise subject
14 |lto forfeiture pursuant to 21 U:5.C. § 853(p) and 28 U.s.C.
155 2461¢c). '

16 C. Immediate Entry of Preliminary Order of Forfeiture.
17 Defendént consents and agrees to .the immediate entry of a
18 |{preliminary order of forfeiture upon entry of the guilty plea.
19§ Defendant further agrees that upon entry of the preliminary order
20||of forfeiture, such order will be considered  final as to

21 ldefendant’s interests in the property. Defendant agrees to

23 [lrelated to the criminal conduct seized in connection with this case
24 ih any pending administrative and civil forfeiture proceeding, and
25 ||consents to the forfeiture of all properties seized in ¢onnection
26 |with this case to the United States. Defendant agrees to execute
27’#any‘and all documents requested by the Government to facilitate or

‘28 complete the forfeiture process. Defendant further agrees not to

s $150,000 in U.S. currency, which constitutes or is.

22 || immediately withdraw any claims to property directly or indirectly)

2 -
Def.’s Initials
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contest or to assist any other person or entity in contesting the
forfeiture of the property seized in connection with this case.
Defendant specifically agrees to obtain from any party who has an
interest in the Subject Assets, including Deféndant’s spouse and
mothér—inmlawr any consent forms required to facilitate or complete
the forfeiture of the Subject Assets.

D. Entry of Orders of Forfeiture and Waiver of Notice.
Defendant consents and agrees to the entry of ordérs of forfeiture
for such property and wéives thé-requirements of Federal Rules of
Criminal Procedure 32.2 and 43(a) regarding notice of the
forfeiture in the charging instrument, announcement of the
forfeiture at sentencing, and incorporation Qf the forfeiture in
the Jjudgment. Defendant acknowledges Fhat defendant understands
that the forfeiture of assets is part of the sentence that may bhe
imposed in this case and waives any failure by the Court to advise
defendant of this, pursuant to Rule 11{b)(1){J), at the time the
Court acéepts the guilty plea.

E. Waiver of Constitutional and Statutbry" Challenges.
Defendant further agrees to waive all constitutional and statutory

challenges in aﬁy manner (including direct appeal, habeas corpus,

for any other means) to any forfeiture carried out in accordance

with this agreement on any grounds, including that the forfeiture
constitutes an exéessive fine or punishment. Defendant agrees to
take all steps as reguested by the United States to pass clear
'tiile to forfeitable assets to the United States, and to testify
truthfully in any judicial forfeifure proceeding.

F. Agreement Survives Defendant; No Forfeiture Abatement.

Defendant agrees that the forfeiture provisions of this plea

3 .
Def.*s Ini tialsgfi
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agreement are intended to, and will, survive defendant,

notwithstanding the abatement of any underlying criminal conviction

after the execution of this agreement. The forfeitability of any
particular property pursuant to this agreement shall be determined
as if defendant had survived, and that _determination shall be
binding upon defendant’s heiré, successors and assigns until the
agreed forfeiture, including any agreed money 3judgment amount, is
collected in full.

The defendant understands that the main plea agreement, this
and any other addendum embody the entire plea agreement betweeﬁ the

parties and supersedes any other plea agreement, written or oral.
i . .

FOR THE DEEFNDANT:

/2T

Datel 1

ACKNOWLEDGMENT. BY DEFENSF, COUNSEL:

2-24 .18 ,/ » g:__,

. 4
Date _ " MICHAEL¢D. ETEIN
'- Defense Counsel

FOR THE GOVERNMENT:

LAURA E. DUFFY
United States Attorney

2[15[\3

Date © | VALERTE H. CHU

2-25720\

Date

o

4 .
- Def.’s Initials C;‘




e e et -

10

11

12

13

14

15

16,

17

18

1%

20|

21,

22

23§

24

25
26
27

28

et PR L

Case 3:15- cr -02773-BAS Document 12 Filed 12/02/15 Pagelofl
- WiEEED -2 A O
(]
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURYT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIPORNIA
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Cage No. 15CR2773-BaS
Plaintif £, :
; V. | ORDER OF LIMITED UNSEALING OF
j ' - ' INDICTMENT, SUPERSEDING
ESTEVEN RIGLER, ' INFORMATION, PLEA AGREEMENT, AND
FOREFEITURE ADDENDUM
Defendant.
' UNDER SEAL-
IT IS8 HEREBY ORDERED THAT:
(1) From the date of the signing of this order until December
11, 2015, the Information, PRlea Agreement, and PForfeiture Addendum |
ghall be unsealed for thé limited purpose of allowing them to be used

as exhibits to the testimony of Defendant Steven Rigler in E
proceedings béfore a QGrand Jﬁry convened by the San Diego,Dis;rict
{Attorney’s OﬁfiCe, and to furtﬁer be made part of the public record
at the conclusion of that proceeding as zequired by applicable

California state rules or court order.

(2} All filinge and events in the case record shall be unsealed
Ias of December 11, 2015.
TIT IS SO ORDERED.

s Oiﬁt:ﬁm

DATED HON.. UYNTHIA -BASHANT
- ‘ United States District Judge
cet Chewitres
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- ORIGINAL

. L ) — “\‘1 N
LAURA E. DUFFY i"" | Lt f...i
United States Attorney
VALERIE H, CHU TR A LR T |
Aspistant United States Attorney wEwL 2 Bl
[California Bar No. 241709 - - e et
CAROLINE P. HAN S A £

— ST LR G
i

7

California Bar No, 250301

1t FRED A, SHEPPARD

Agsistant United States Attorney

California Bar No. 250781

Federal Office Building

1880 Front Street, Room 6293

San Diego, California 92101-8893

Telephone: {619} 546~ 6750/6968/8237 )

Email: Valerie . chudusdoed . gov ' .
Caroline, handusdo]. goy
Fred, gheppard@usdas .gov

Attorneys for United States of america

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICHA, Cage No. 15CR2773-BAS

Plaintiff, :
V. ' : ' MOTION FOR LIMITED UNSEALING OF
S INDICTMENT, SUPERSEDING
STEVEN RIGLER, : TNFORMATION, PLEA AGREEMENT, AND
FOREFEITURE ADDENDUM
Defendant.
: EX PARTE AND UNDER SEAL

COMES NOW the United States and hereby moves the Court to unseal
the following: the Information, Plea Agfeement, and Forfeiture
| Addendum, for-the limited purpose of allowing these pleadings to be
“used as exhibits to the testimony of Defendant Steven Rigler in
{proceedings before a ‘Grand Jury convened by the San Diego Disﬁrict
Attorney’s Office, and to further be made part of thie public record
at the concluéion .of that proceedihg as reguired by applicable

California state rules or court order.

cet CHpwRers

Rogyr \\\fﬂ»\'\’_ - 15CR2773-BAS
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That proceeding should conclude no later than December 11, 2018,

and the United States accordingly moves to unseal the aforementioned |

documents, and the case record, for all purposes as of that date.

[ I S
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RESPECFULLY SUBMLITTED,

LAURA E. DUFFY

United States Attorney
- J— o br bt
s M_%\'
DADED ' VALERIE H. CHU

As3istant U.8. Attorney
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TO"TI-IE UNITED STATES MARSHAL AND 7 OR wmas'n 'Mﬁymp LITAN CORFIEGTIONAL csm‘en
. 'Beadvised thatunderdateof .. " ;' . » i / '2 0 i S
. the court entered the following order: .

.. Defandant be relsased from-oustody, * - CoE
+Defendant piaced on supervised'/ thsipbivised grobation / supervised halease, .~ .« o e L

i
ki

- Defenddnt continusd on supeivised / Linstpervisedt probation / &upervisad rélegse.
S
‘\ . -

——32. . Defendant releasedon$ y\ - : - ‘. * Bond posted )
N Defenidant appeared in Court.. HNGERPHINT&HELEASE. Seoeo T T e e i *

.. Defendant rermianded andy _.

boncl) {W bund on; appaai) axonwated.
Foo e e Defendant seéntencad toTIME SERVED, suparu[sed reloase for “years,

Bench Warrant Recalied:
- Detondant forfeited coltateral. . ... =~ -

Case dismissed.

1

" Case dismi'ssad, charges pending.in case no, _

R imiad .. Defendant to be released to Prétrial Services for electronic monitoring. ~ ~ ° SRR
- Other, N '

CYNTHIA A. BASHANT

P o amfen swﬁra@_@yggﬁmmrﬁJu’nGE‘:
. . ’y *

Received , - - . . JOHN MDRRILL Clerk -

-

.S.Ml

Grima  (Rew. 811} ’ j: - o B 4 - *u&omimn'-vummu

(4 ~Legy- 3@& | E.

. CLERKsce" |
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AO 455(Rev, 5/85) Waiver of Indictment : l
FILED |
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURY' , cxuc . orstaicT GOURT
N QISTRICT OF CAUFORNIA
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFO. EPUTY

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA WAIVER OF INDICTMENT

v | CASENUMBER: |8 R27? 73-6AS
STEVEN RIGLER

I, STEVEN RIGLER , the above named defendant, who is accused of

committing the following offenses:

Title 18, United States Code, Sectlon 1349 ~ Conspnracy to Commit Honest
Services Mail Frand

being advised of the nature of the charge(s), the proposed information, and of my

rights, hereby waive in open courton __ /f / 3/ [5 , 2015, prosecution by

indictment and consent that the proceedlng may be by information rather than by

indictment.

Counsel for Defends

Before - W“
Judicial Officer
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FILED

1 .
2 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ~ NOV 03 2015
3 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIRE iemor o soosss, |
4 LI, DEPUTY
5 | UNHTED STATES OFAMERICA, 1 cage No: 16 e 8773 - BAS |
6 Plaintiff, :
, !j ' NOTICE OF RELATED CASE
\'2
8
o “ STEVEN RIGLER,
10 Defendant
11
12 TO THE CLERK OF THE COURT:
13 ‘ Please take notice that the above entitled case is related to United States of
14 America v. Sean Enrique O’Keefe, Case No. 14CR2354-BAS, pursuant to Local Rule
5 57.2.1, Related Cases. The United States Attorney certifies the cases are related for
161 the following reason(s):
17 L _(1) More than one indictment or information is filed or pending against the
18 same defendant or defendants.
X@ Prosecution against different defendants arises from;
19 __(a) a common wiretap |
20 _;___(b) a common search Warrant
21 _ X (¢) ‘activities that are part of the same alleged criminal
22 event or transaction; that is, the cases involved
23 . Substantially the same facts and the same questions of
24 : ‘ law.
25 DATED: November 2, 2015.
26 T ot
28




= T, S O S N

o

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL
(C.C.P. section 1013(a), 2015.5)

I am over the age of 18 years and not a party to the entitled action. My business address is
1515 Clay Street, 18" Floor, Oakland, California 94612.

I served the following documents:

e Notice of Provider Suspension — Workers’ Compensation

¢ Order and Conditions of Pretrial Release: Bail in United States of America v. Steven Rigler
(Case No. 15CR2773) — U.S. District Court (Southern District of California)

e Information in United States of America v. Steven Rigler (Case No. 15CR2773) — U.S.
District Court (Southern District of California)

e Plea Agreement in United States of America v. Steven Rigler (Case No. 15CR2773) — U.S.
District Court (Southern District of California), with Forfeiture Addendum to Plea
Agreement

e Order of Limited Unsealing of Indictment, Superseding Information, Plea Agreement, and
Forfeiture Addendum in United States of America v. Steven Rigler (Case No. 15CR2773) -
U.S. District Court (Southern District of California), with underlying Motion

e Abstract of Order dated November 3, 2015 in United States of America v. Steven Rigler
(Case No, 15CR2773) — U.S. District Court (Southern District of California)

e Waiver of Indictment in United States of America v. Steven Rigler (Case No. 15CR2773) —
U.S. District Court (Southern District of California)

e Notice of Related Case in United States of America v. Steven Rigler (Case No. 15CR2773) -
U.S. District Court (Southern District of California)

on the following person(s) at the following address(es):

Steven Rigler
1885 National Avenue
San Diego, CA 91113

The documents were served by the following means:

[X] (BY U.S. CERTIFIED MAIL) I enclosed the documents in a sealed envelope or package
addressed to the person(s) at the address(es) listed above and:

[X] Placed the envelope or package for collection and mailing, following our ordinary business
practices. I am readily familiar with the firm’s practice for collection and processing correspondence
for mailing. Under that practice, on the same day that correspondence is placed for collection and
mailing, it is deposited in the ordinary course of business with the U.S. Postal Service, in a sealed
envelope or package with the postage fully prepaid.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of State of California that the above is true
and correct. Executed on April 14, 2017, at Oakland, California.

o

CATHY FUJITA-LAM






